
 United Nations  A/CN.9/SR.941*

 

General Assembly  
Distr.: General 
14 July 2011 
 
Original: English 

 

This record is subject to correction. 

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a 
memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week 
of the date of distribution of this document to the Chief, Conference Management Service, 
room D0771, Vienna International Centre. 

Any corrections to the records of the meetings of this session will be consolidated in a single 
corrigendum to be issued shortly after the end of the session. 

 ———————— 
 * Reissued for technical reasons on 28 January 2014. 

 
V.11-84467 (E)    280114    290114 

 
 

 

 

*1184467* 
 

United Nations Commission on  
International Trade Law 
Forty-fourth session 

   

   
 
 

Summary record of the 941st meeting 
Held at the Vienna International Centre, Vienna, on Friday, 8 July 2011, at 9.30 a.m. 

 
 

Chairperson: Mr. Moollan........................................................(Mauritius) 
 
 

Contents 
Agenda item  Paragraphs

22 Adoption of the report of the Commission . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1-114

  



 

2 V.11-84467 
 

A/CN.9/SR.941  

The meeting was called to order at 9.45 a.m. 
 

Adoption of the report of the Commission 
 

1. The Chairperson invited the Rapporteur,  
Mr. Phua (Singapore), to introduce the draft report of 
the Commission on the work of its forty-fourth session. 

2. Mr. Phua (Singapore), Rapporteur, said that 
documents A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1 and addenda would 
together form the report of the Commission.  
As addenda 16, 17 and 21 were still in preparation,  
the Commission had before it addenda 1-15 and 18-20. 
He noted that in addendum 7, the chapter heading was 
incorrectly indicated as part VI. 

3. Mr. Sorieul (Secretary of the Commission) said 
that, as usual, delegations should provide written 
notification of any typographical errors and other 
errors of form. The Secretariat would revise the report 
without modifying the substance, and the report would 
be formally edited prior to submission to the United 
Nations General Assembly. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1 
 

4. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1 was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.1 
 

5. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat) said that she would 
present comments on behalf of delegations involved in 
the discussions on public procurement that had already 
returned to their capitals. 

6. With regard to the first sentence in paragraph 12, 
in order to address a concern that the meaning of the 
phrase “located with the definitions (f) and (g)” was not 
clear, it was proposed that it be amended to read “It was 
further agreed that article 2 should contain new 
definitions of ‘pre-qualification’ and ‘pre-selection’, 
which would be located with the definitions (f) and (g).” 

7. It was proposed that the words “were raised” in 
the last sentence of paragraph 8 be moved to the 
beginning of the sentence, so that it read “Concerns 
were raised about [remainder unchanged]”. 

8. It was proposed that paragraph 24 be amended to 
read “The Commission agreed that the guide text 
would discuss the risks of discrimination where 
specific production methods were mentioned by 
drawing attention to the prohibition against 
discriminatory treatment in article 10 (2).” 

9. Regarding paragraph 40, it was proposed to add a 
new sentence at the end reading “After discussion, this 
proposal was not retained.” 

10. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to the proposed changes. 

11. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.1, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.2 
 

12. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat) said that it was 
proposed that in paragraph 19 “World Bank 
requirements” be amended to read “MDB (Multilateral 
Development Bank) requirements.” 

13. It was proposed that paragraph 22 be amended to 
read: “The Commission discussed whether to delete the 
reference to “low” in the provisions to avoid confusion 
with other provisions of the Model Law that referred to 
a low-value threshold, but agreed to retain the current 
wording, noting that the provision would be explained 
in the Guide.”  

14. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to the proposed changes. 

15. Ms. Sabo (Canada) proposed the addition, for 
clarification purposes, of the following sentence at the 
end of paragraph 29: “After consideration, this 
proposal was rejected as it was believed that the 
subject matter of a procurement is a question of fact 
which cannot easily fall under a generic definition and 
it was therefore felt better to leave it open and to 
include a discussion in the Guide.”  

16. It was so decided. 

17. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat), referring to  
paragraph 43, said that the deletion of the words “in 
the long term” in the fourth sentence was proposed. 

18. It was proposed that paragraph 46 be expanded to 
read “The need to clarify confusing terminology in 
articles 63-68 was raised.” 

19. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to those proposals. 

20. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.2, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 



 

V.11-84467 3 
 

 A/CN.9/SR.941

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.3 
 

21. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat), drawing attention to 
the second sentence in paragraph 15, which read “The 
Commission deferred its decision on the proposal to a 
later stage.”, said that the report would make it clear 
that the proposal in question had been accepted. 

22. In the last sentence of paragraph 23, it was 
proposed to insert “[name of the independent body]” 
after “provide”. 

23. The Chairperson said he took it that those 
proposals were acceptable. 

24. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.3, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.4 
 

25. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat) said, with regard to 
paragraph 13, that it was proposed that the following 
sentence be added at the end: “The alternative view 
was that the previous wording implied the use of the 
English language, which would not be appropriate, and 
also that the revised wording reflected modern 
practices such as the use of Internet-based 
communications.” 

26. Regarding paragraph 14, it was proposed that the 
words “for international publication” be added to the 
second sentence, so that it would read: “It was also 
agreed that the Guide would describe the different 
ways in which the requirements for international 
publication could be fulfilled [remainder unchanged].” 

27. It was proposed that the first sentence of 
paragraph 15 be amended to read as follows: “The 
Commission agreed that the Guide should (a) note that 
the provisions would require that the publication be 
made in a language that would make it in fact 
accessible to all potential suppliers or contractors in 
the context of the procurement concerned and (b) alert 
enacting States that, in the WTO, [remainder 
unchanged]”. The final sentence would be deleted.  

28. In paragraph 17, the first part of the sentence 
should be amended to read “The Commission agreed to 
replace paragraph (2) with the following wording: ‘All 
suppliers [remainder unchanged]’”. 

29. Regarding subparagraph 40 (2), it was proposed 
that “an appeal” be amended to read “an application or 
appeal”. 

30. Regarding the first sentence of paragraph 42, the 
insertion of “, subject to clarification of terminology” 
after “along the following lines” was proposed.  

31. Regarding paragraph 47, the insertion of the 
words “appeal and” before “or appellant” was 
proposed. 

32. In paragraph 49, the noun “reference” should be 
in the plural — “references”. 

33. In paragraph 50, the phrase “may apply to the 
procuring entity” should be replaced with “may apply 
to the [name of independent body]”. 

34. Regarding paragraph 51, it was proposed that the 
following phrase be added at the end: “and that the 
word ‘appellant’ be replaced with the word 
‘applicant’”. 

35. Regarding paragraph 54, it was proposed that: the 
phrase “that is in compliance with the provisions of 
this Law” in subparagraph (d bis) be deleted; and 
subparagraph (h) be amended to read “Require the 
payment of compensation for any reasonable costs 
incurred by the supplier or contractor submitting an 
application or an appeal as a result of an act or decision 
of, or procedure followed by, the procuring entity in 
the procurement proceedings which is not in 
compliance with the provisions of this Law, and for 
any loss or damages suffered [, which shall be limited 
to costs for the preparation of the submission or the 
costs relating to the application, or both]”. 

36. The addition of the following sentence at the end 
of paragraph 56 was proposed: “It also agreed to add 
the words ‘duly notified of the proceedings’ after the 
words ‘a supplier or contractor’ at the beginning of the 
second sentence.” 

37. Regarding the first sentence of paragraph 65, it 
was proposed that the phrase “the view was expressed 
that some of its provisions” be amended to read “a 
view expressed was that some of its provisions”. 
Regarding the second sentence, the replacement of “the 
point was made that” with “according to that view” 
was proposed. 

38. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to the proposed changes. 

39. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.4, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 



 

4 V.11-84467 
 

A/CN.9/SR.941  

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.5 
 

40. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat) said it was proposed 
that in the first sentence of paragraph 1 “part of” be 
replaced with “accompaniment to”. 

41. Mr. Sorieul (Secretary of the Commission), in 
response to a question from Mr. Bellenger (France) in 
relation to paragraph 2, said that the session of 
Working Group I scheduled for the second half of 2011 
was to be cancelled and the next session would be held 
in New York in April 2012 or in Vienna at the end of 
February 2012. 

42. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat), describing the 
process for finalizing the draft Guide to Enactment 
through extensive consultations, said that the 
Secretariat would amend the draft pursuant to the 
instructions given by Working Group I at its twentieth 
session. The draft would then be circulated as widely 
as possible by e-mail. A series of expert group 
consultations would be held in the second half of 2011 
so that the text submitted to Working Group I early in 
2012 was as near-final as possible. If the Working 
Group I session took place in April, there would be 
only a short time in which to finalize the text for 
submission to the forty-fifth session of the 
Commission. 

43. Mr. Bellenger (France) said that the Working 
Group I session should not be held too close to the 
forty-fifth session of the Commission. The  
February 2012 option was therefore preferable. 

44. The Chairperson suggested that further 
discussion on the matter be deferred until the 
Commission dealt with the section of the draft report 
that dealt with the dates of meetings. 

45. Ms. Nicholas (Secretariat) said it was proposed 
that in the first sentence of paragraph 9 the second “in 
particular” be replaced with “also”, so that the sentence 
read “The need for States to take a more active role in 
promoting the use of the 2011 Model Law and its 
effective implementation and uniform interpretation, in 
particular through States’ donor agencies, was stressed, 
also given resource constraints in the Secretariat for 
such work.” 

46. Regarding paragraph 11 it was proposed that a 
sentence reading as follows be added: “It was noted 
that this topic could include many aspects, of which 
public procurement was only one.” 

47. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to the proposed changes. 

48. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed the addition to the first sentence of paragraph 
14 of the words “at its last working group session”, so 
that the sentence would read “At its current session, the 
Commission noted that Working Group V had 
considered at its last working group session [remainder 
unchanged]”. 

49. The Chairperson took it that there were no 
objections to that change. 

50. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.5, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.6 
 

51. The Chairperson proposed the replacement of 
“understanding” with “commitment” in the last 
sentence of paragraph 3. 

52. It was so decided. 

53. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that, in order to record the fact that some 
delegations wished to make a distinction between a 
right accorded by the transparency rules and a right 
under the treaty, a sentence or the following lines be 
added at the end of paragraph 5: “It was noted that 
“amicus curiae” participation of a non-disputing State 
party to the investment treaty should be distinguished 
from situations in which a non-disputing State party 
participated in the arbitration pursuant to a right 
provided in the treaty.”  

54. The Chairperson proposed that the Secretariat 
finalize the wording.  

55. Ms. Sabo (Canada) said that, while it was 
normally preferable to finalize wording in the 
Commission, the proposed sentence could, in her view, 
be referred to the Secretariat. 

56. Ms. Jamschon MacGarry (Argentina) proposed 
that the second sentence of paragraph 5 be reworded 
along the following lines: “It was said that different 
approaches to the intervention of different types of 
“amici curiae” should be considered and that, in order 
to assess the suitability of the participation by 
non-disputing States parties to the treaty, the scope and 
modalities of such participation and the conditions 



 

V.11-84467 5 
 

 A/CN.9/SR.941

under which such participation was regulated should be 
further considered. 

57. The Chairperson said that two substantive issues 
were involved. First, the Commission should not give 
Working Group I the impression that it was presuming 
that the transparency rules should give non-disputing 
parties the right to participate; there was no intention 
of pre-empting the outcome. Secondly, the report 
should reflect the fact that there had been discussion as 
to whether the right of a non-disputing State to 
participate arose from the transparency rules or from a 
right under the treaty.  

58. Mr. Jezewski (Poland) suggested that, in order to 
reflect the concerns of the United States and Argentina, 
which he shared, the first part of the second sentence 
be deleted, so that the sentence would read “The 
manner in which the intervention of such a State 
should be dealt with should be left for further 
consideration by the Working Group.” 

59. The Chairperson proposed, after a further 
intervention by Ms. Jamschon MacGarry 
(Argentina), a formulation on the following lines: 
“Whether there should be such a right of intervention, 
and, if so, the manner, scope and modalities of such 
intervention, should be left for further consideration by 
the Working Group.” 

60. It was so decided. 

61. The Chairperson proposed that, in paragraph 8, 
the words “might need” be replaced by the word 
“needed”; the Commission had reached an agreement 
to that effect. 

62. It was so decided. 

63. Mr. Bellenger (France) said, with reference to 
the last sentence of paragraph 15, that he did not recall 
the Commission’s agreeing that conciliation/mediation 
with respect to the settlement of treaty-based investor-
State disputes should be considered as a topic for 
future work of Working Group I. 

64. Ms. Sabo (Canada), concurring, proposed that the 
words “The Commission agreed” be replaced by the 
words “It was suggested”. 

65. It was so decided. 

66. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.6, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.7 
 

67. Mr. Bellenger (France) said, in relation to the 
last sentence of paragraph 9, that not only consumer 
protection legislation was involved. The sentence 
should therefore be preceded by the following phrase: 
“Generally, pursuant to its mandate,”. 

68. It was so decided. 

69. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.7, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.8 
 

70. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that the following phrase be added at the end 
of the second sentence of paragraph 3: “, which would 
provide States that had enacted the secured transactions 
law recommended in the Guide with practical advice as 
to the issues to be addressed in the context of the 
establishment and operation of a general security rights 
registry”. 

71. It was so decided. 

72. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed the addition of the following sentence before 
the penultimate sentence in paragraph 4: “There was no 
general discussion of the merits of that proposed 
approach or of alternative approaches.” If that proposal 
was accepted, the words “In that connection” at the 
beginning of the penultimate sentence should be 
deleted. 

73. Ms. Sabo (Canada), supported by Mr. Grand 
d’Esnon (France), questioned the need to refer to a 
general discussion that had not taken place. 

74. The Chairperson took it that the Commission 
wished to leave the text unchanged. 

75. It was so decided. 

76. Mr. Tata (Observer for the World Bank) 
suggested that the second sentence of paragraph 7 be 
reworded to read “It was noted that, based on the 
precedent of the coordination between the World Bank 
Principles and Guidelines for Effective Insolvency and 
Creditor Rights Systems and the UNCITRAL 
Legislative Guide on Insolvency Law, a draft of those 
principles could be jointly prepared by the Secretariat 
in cooperation with the World Bank, through its legal 
vice-presidency, and outside experts within existing 



 

6 V.11-84467 
 

A/CN.9/SR.941  

resources and without utilizing Working Group 
resources.”  

77. In response to a question from the Chairperson 
concerning the need for the word “jointly”, he said that 
the final product would need to be used by the World 
Bank and integrated into a pattern that already existed. 
If that was understood, the word “jointly” was 
unnecessary. 

78. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.8, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.9 
 

79. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that in paragraph 5 “UNCITRAL” be inserted 
between the words “prevent” and “from” in the third 
sentence.  

80. It was so decided. 

81. Ms. Sabo (Canada) proposed that in the second 
sentence of paragraph 5 the words “Broad consensus 
was expressed on” be replaced by the words “The 
prevailing view supported”. 

82. The Chairperson said that he saw no support for 
that proposal.  

83. Mr. Gautney (United States of America), 
referring to paragraph 6, proposed that the following 
sentence be added at the end: “It was suggested that, 
time and resources permitting, a reconvened working 
group consider a recommendation pending in 
UN/CEFACT that raises issues under UNCITRAL 
instruments.”  

84. It was so decided. 

85. Mr. Gautney (United States of America), 
referring to paragraph 7, proposed that the following 
sentence be added at the end: “It was also noted that 
work regarding electronic transferable records may 
include certain aspects of the other topics discussed in 
documents A/CN.9/728 and A/CN.9/728/Add.1.” 

86. The Chairperson took it that the Commission 
wished to accept that proposal. 

87. It was so decided. 

88. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that paragraph 11 be reworded to read “The 
Commission also agreed that the extension of the 
mandate of Working Group IV (Electronic Commerce) 

to other topics discussed in documents A/CN.9/728 and 
A/CN.9/728/Add.1 as discrete subjects (as opposed to 
their incidental relation to electronic transferable 
records) would be further considered at a future 
session.” 

89. It was so decided. 

90. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.9, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.10 
 

91. Mr. Seweha Boles (Egypt) asked what need there 
was for the words “in particular” in subparagraph 4 (n). 
Unless the reason for their inclusion was to distinguish 
microenterprises and SMEs from individuals, they 
were redundant and should be deleted. 

92. It was so decided. 

93. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that at the end of the second sentence of 
paragraph 7 the following phrase be added: “, keeping 
in mind the scope of UNCITRAL’s mandate and its 
traditional areas of work”. 

94. It was so decided. 

95. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.10, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.11 and 12 
 

96. Documents A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.11 and 12 
were adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.13 
 

97. Mr. Gautney (United States of America) 
proposed that, in paragraph 13, the phrase “cost 
incurred by the Secretariat” be replaced by the phrase 
“cost associated with time spent by Secretariat 
personnel on such activities”. 

98. It was so decided. 

99. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.13, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.14 and 15 
 

100. Documents A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.14 and 15 
were adopted. 
 



 

V.11-84467 7 
 

 A/CN.9/SR.941

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.18 
 

101. Ms. Montineri (Secretariat) said that one 
delegation had requested the addition of the following 
sentence at the end of paragraph 2: “Appreciation was 
also expressed to all institutions and experts involved 
in the preparation and implementation of the moot 
competition.” 

102. It was so decided. 

103. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.18, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.19 
 

104. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.19 was 
adopted. 
 

A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.20 
 

105. Ms. Sabo (Canada) said that the reference in 
paragraph 3 to “11 female interns and 12 interns 
coming from developing countries” was misleading.  

106. The Chairperson suggested that the Secretariat 
make the wording of the sentence in question more 
felicitous. 

107. It was so decided. 

108. Ms. Sabo (Canada) proposed that the words “and 
options” be inserted after the word “issues” in the last 
sentence of paragraph 6. 

109. It was so decided. 

110. Mr. Sorieul (Secretariat) proposed the reinsertion 
in paragraph 6, after the first sentence, of the following 
text: “The Commission noted that, under General 
Assembly resolution 49/221, it was entitled to 
summary records. Furthermore, the Commission noted 
that it had previously addressed the issue of the 
necessity of summary records at its thirty-seventh 
session. On that occasion, the Commission had been 
presented with the option of edited verbatim transcripts 
or digital sound recordings and had determined that 
summary records were essential for its work.” — that 
text to be accompanied by a footnote reference to 
paragraphs 129 and 130 of the report of the 
Commission on its thirty-seventh session (General 
Assembly document A/39/17). 

111. Ms. Sabo (Canada) said that paragraph 6 should, 
in order to reflect the tone of the debate, indicate the 
Commission’s willingness to consider other options. 

112. The Chairperson proposed that the final 
sentence of paragraph 6 (“After discussion, …”) be 
reformulated in such a way as to indicate that the 
Commission was willing to consider other options. 

113. It was so decided. 

114. Document A/CN.9/XLIV/CRP.1/Add.20, as orally 
revised, was adopted. 

The meeting rose at 11.40 a.m. 
 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /OK
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.5
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Preserve
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 600
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 1200
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName (http://www.color.org)
  /PDFXTrapped /Unknown

  /Description <<
    /JPN <FEFF3053306e8a2d5b9a306f30019ad889e350cf5ea6753b50cf3092542b308030d730ea30d730ec30b9537052377528306e00200050004400460020658766f830924f5c62103059308b3068304d306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103057305f00200050004400460020658766f8306f0020004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d30678868793a3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /FRA <>
    /DEU <>
    /PTB <>
    /DAN <>
    /NLD <>
    /ESP <>
    /SUO <>
    /ITA <>
    /NOR <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU ()
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [595.276 841.890]
>> setpagedevice


